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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION By o

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20403

June 4. 2004

MEMORANDUM
‘ )

TO: THE COMMISSION vl

THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON /

STAFF DIRECTOR /"

ROBERT J. COSTA //?Q

DEPUTY STAFF DIRECYOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON

ASSISTANT STAFF/DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION

SUBJECT: REASON TO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION - 2oid APRIL
QUARTERLY REPORT FOR THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINES PROGRAM

Auached is a list of political committees and their treasurers who failed 1o file. or fuiled
to timely file, the 2004 April Quarterly Report in accordonce with 2 U.S.C. 434y On March
22, 2004, Prior Notice was sent to all political committees und their treasurers. mfornunyg them

that the April Quarterly Report was due on April 15, 2004, The report should have covered the
period ending on March 31, 2004.

The committees listed in the attached RTB Circulation Report cither futled to file the
report or filed the report more than £ve (3) days after the Jue date. In accords ce with the
schedule of civil money penalties loca.ed within 11 CFR $111.43. these committe. s should be
assessed the civil money penalties highlighted on the report attached.



Rec ymmc« ~dation

(1) Find reason to believe that the political committees and their treasurers listed on the RTB
Circulation Report violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalties would be the amounts indicated on the RTB Circulation Report.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.



004 ¢ % [SEEEITY NN N SR ¥

3} O LY GH S
HOLA L) HIOr X000 A8
1465 1) 1T
0 g s Tunlg
AV WU T A
Gl | A
1} a [t Y
GHVHORL I M,
[§10 e nonIn9s
0 ON LIGERE 1S
ATV OMALESHEM "1
6ILs 0r9’gs
0 ON 619'8Z1L%
JrIYNOY (YN Y.

ALTALLIDVY 40 TIAT'T
SHOTLVTIOIA SNOTIATYHG ANTLISNIS LHNAOWY (FTOHGAYHL
AKVN ALYATANYD ALVLS

ATHILHVNO "TIHdY 002
jtodey UOTIPINDIL) DADT{AY O HOSEGY

¥002-£00Z HNOISSIWWOD NOILDATA "IVHHOAd

1 fHOVd
rPo0e/¥0/50 H1vd

PaT14 10N
OGS LAARO ¢ TAVILDIW LATS9E00D
SHAHONOD A0d X0O AYTD 011104V

pPat1d 10N
AN A Hme oy, 9980LF00D
AMHEA 1Y LoM93 oL 33LLIWHOD BOTI0SY

.. v00C/TT/V0
HITIO8 NAOUVYHS Of LBSEGENOD
HOINAWNYD TTIH MD0¥d $01104Y

i1 v00c/92/v0
SHINLYM H ADNYN 0ZT06E00D
ALVNIS SO HOJ YALSEAM TATNYA bOTI0dV

Zt vooz/Le/vo
a531Cd © dTvNoda CELEPT00D
QAYAIYd NOY J0 SOIN3IY¥d £01T104Y

ALl SAva JL¥a . 1413334
YAANSYINL al H3LLIKHOD
WYH A3 LLITKWWOD H dv




054795 { 1) LS PI1LYd 10N

A o [ A S HE WA LAY Hovm S TEYIL L¥058700D
LHERIMYL HOVES ST M A SGTHODIGD S duAd SWYIITEM HOVLS 02104V
YA e [T B BT ) PaTld N
‘ ( on GO TELLS UMW THIS LN LLBYRTOND
dI80IA 'NOLLNG 2L SSUUDNOD HOoA NOLINS 611104V
00s§ 2rz‘zes P3ITd 20N $002/61/50
0 OoN S11'881% ONNOA ADNWYN £v888€000
ADNYN "HANNINS 11 b002 ZLYNAS HOd HANNINS TTTT0d4Y
ALTTUNIE XANOH TIAID ALIALLOW 40 TAAdY A1 SAvd 3Lva 141303y
SNOLLVYIOIA SNOIASYMG BATLISNAS JNMOWY Q' TOHSAUHL HAYNSYSIYUL al JJLLIWKWOD
AWVN FLYAIANYD CRATAR:] AWYN HALLINWOD 4 av

ATHALYYND TIdaV #DOZ
z 1 qoYd 32042y UOLIUIND1L] dadl{ay O} uoseay

voo02/¥0/90 3lvd b00Z-€002 HNOISSIWWOD NOLLDWTA Vvi3dad




[ERTN S

fy
LI

1
OHLG

0
GLHTLS

1]
OLES

H
(19} Gl <3

8]
0055

0

ALTUYNId AANOW 11ALD
SHOLINTIOLIA

£ 139vd
pOOZ/Y0/90 Alva

SNO1AdHd

3

il

ofl

O}

ol

©N

ON

anlLISNAS
HdWYH ALVATANVD

q2odoy UOTIVINDILD DADITHY O UOHETY
POOZ-E00C NOISGHTHWOD HOLLOATA “IVe

T 1 rog/id/ro
[RRRA P RT3 AT T E T FART B | [ T I ]
RO OO MDAy

I A ne

AL LT ] TG

FONS/TT/00
B4.0.97T000

050y 1S
LR R IO LR To ot SHEATTHY BHAONATEAN T HALYHAIO - HETMO L 2T T0AY

{113 SR BN 6Hi r0o0z/v1/00

HEo Lals HOSHHOIY 0 HOLNVLS 10L66260D

il (D% BN DV ANAWA ¥ 1IN LLOWHAGOW 981104V
146 995 . 1z LODZ/90/ 50

1915093 ONIIOH "118dY D YALLLIOOD

AN ALNNDD OHIATA NYS A0 4o NIOONIT S2T104Y
pol LS L v00zZ/CT/v0

HIF LIS AUYWHY NVITYL 8L8ETO0OD

O TRWOD HOLLOV VO ILITIOG HOTLVIJ0SSY SHIUMIOVANNYK ROILVIAY TWHANID VZU104V

LeL' 668 L »00Z/22/%0
2280025 40K08 "¢ Ludgod ZBI6LZ0O0OD
W STHYEd 4O SANTIHL £2T10d4Y
tas ety 57 p00Z/0E V0
8L9°L0ES AW W Uie..s ‘ydasor £693CE£00D
aa ONA CONI WODHTAL FONVIOHTIV 127704V

ALIATLOV O '13A371
JHOOWY (FIOHSEINL

4LVl SAvQ ALva 1414039
HAYNSYANL a1 43L1L IWHOD

[CHATA TS HWYH 3ALLIWKWGD o Aav

ATE3LUVn0 1hHdv w00l




0sL"9% (153} 89Z792ZT5 PatTd ION

Z on s08°'eLES SurTiod 'dH anyaiay ZISLPIO0D
1 {J¥d -080) FALLIWWOD NOTIJLOVY TYIILITO4 SNONYD HOWIH TVNOISSIYONOD TETIT0dV
ALTYNAd AINOW TIALD ALIALLDY JO T3AIT 1N SAvg 3lva LJd1303Y
SHOTIWIOIA SOOIATUd AAILISNAS LNI0KY  (FTOHSHYL q43AENSVANL I 3J.LLIWKWOD
AN LYATANYD IVLS AWYH JALLIWWOD # Jv

ATHFLAVNO TTAAV POOZ
[ *aovd Jr0day UOTIE[NIATD dAL[IH O) UDSEsy

YODZ/P0/90 dlNa $002-E002 NOISSTWWOD NOLLOT'IZ Ivadadd




FEDE& ELECTION COMMISSION ‘
Washington, DC 20463

SENSIT!™

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Monday, June 07. 2004 11:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Thursday, June 10, 2004 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS. TONER. WEINTRAUB

SUBJECT:  Reason To Believe Recommendation ~ 2004 April Quarterly Report For the
Administrative Fines Program. Memorandum from the Assistant Staft
Director, Reports Analysis Division dated June 4, 2004.

() | approve the recommendation{s)
() | object to the recommendation(s)
() | approve the recommendations except those following

to which | object (please insert AF#)

{) | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except thess following
in which | am recused (please insert AF=)

{3 | am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot rio later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: ‘ SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION



BEFORE THE FEDERAL EI ECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Reason To Believe Recommendation - 2004
April Quarterly Repon for the
Administrative Fines Program:

[

FRIENDS OF RON PACKARD, and ) AF2 1103
: DONALD ] POLESE as treasurer: )
DANIEL WEBSTER FOR US SENATE. ) #1104
and NANCY H WATKINS as treasurer; )
BROCK HILL CAMPAIGN, and JO ) AF# 1106
SHADDEN BOLIN as treasurer; )
' COMMITTEE TO ELECT BILL KIRBY., 21108
and Tokutomi, E. Ken as treasurer;
CLAY COX FOR CONGRESS. and AF=1110

MICHAEL ] ROBERTSON as treasurer:
SKINNER FOR SENATE 2004, and
NANCY YOUNG as treasurer;

=111l

- - - .

SUTTON FOR CONGRESS, and RUTH ) AF#1119

SCHIERMEUER as treasurer, )

STACE WILLIAMS FOR US ) AF#1120
)

CONGRESS, and CHARLES WADE



Federal Election Co 3 sioq _
Certification for Adm¥strative Fines

June 10, 2004

DARTER JR as treasurer;

ALLEGIANCE TELECOM INC. PAC, and

Joseph, Kevin M. Mr. as treasurer,

FRIENDS OF FERRIS, and ROBERT A.
BOYCE as treasurer;

GENERAL AVIATION
MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(GAMAPACQ), and JAHAN AHMAD as
treasurer,

LINCOLN CLUB OF SAN DIEGO
COUNTY, and C APRIL BOLING as
treasurer;

MCDERMOTT, WILL & EMERY PAC
(MW&E PAC), and STANTON D
ANDERSON as treasurer;
OWNER-OPERATOR INDEPENDENT
DRIVERS ASSN INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE (AKA OOIDA-
PAC), and PAUL D CULLEN SR as
treasurer,

REGENCE BLUEPAC, and R PAUL
WARBURTON as treasurer,

CONGRESSIONAL BLACK CAUCLUS
POLITICAL ACTION

COMMITTEE(CBC-PAC), and Arthur R.

Collins as treasurer;

T

AF=1121

AF= 1126

AF= 1127

AF=1128

AF=1131



Federal Election Co‘sion . Page 3
Certification for AdmM¥strative Fines
June 10, 2004 '

CERTIFICATION

1, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election Commission, do hereby
certify that on June 10, 2004 the Commission took the following actions on the Reason
To Believe Recommendation - 2004 April Quarterly Report for the Administrative Fines
Program as recommended in the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated June 04,

2004, on the following committees:

AF#1103 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that FRIENDS OF
RON PACKARD, and DONALD J POLESE as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDoenald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1104 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that DANIEL
WEBSTER FOR US SENATE, and NANCY H WATKINS as treasurer violated 2 U.5.C.
434(a) and make a preliminarv determination that the civil money penaiiy would be the
amount indicated on the report (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.



Federal Election Conglission 0 Page 4
Certification for Ad strative Fines
June 10, 2004

AF#1106 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that BROCK HILL
CAMPAIGN, and JO SHADDEN BOLIN as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make
a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated
on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald. Smith,
Thomas. Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1108 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that COMMITTEE
TO ELECT BILL KIRBY, and Tokutomi, E. Ken as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penaity would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald.
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1110 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that CLAY COX
FOR CONGRESS, and MICHAEL ] ROBERTSON as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Srnith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1111 Decided by a vote of 6-0 10: (1) find reason to believe that SKINNER

FOR SENATE 2004, and NANCY YOUNG as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 433(a) and
make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; {2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.



Federal Election Conygiission Page 5
Certification for Ad strative Fines .
June 10, 2004

AF#1119 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that SUTTON FOR
CONGRESS, and RUTH SCHIERMEUER as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a} and
make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith. Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1120  Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that STACE
WILLIAMS FOR US CONGRESS. and CHARLES WADE DARTER JR as treasurer
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald. Smith, Thomas. Toner. and Weintraub voted -
affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1121 Decided by 2 vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that ALLEGIANCE
TELECOM INC. PAC, and Joseph, Kevin M. Mr. as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penaity would be the amount
indic: «ed on the ~eport; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDeonald,
Smith, Thomas. oner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.



Federal Election Comygission Page 6
Certification for Ad strative Fines .

June 10, 2004

AF£1123 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: {1) find reason to believe that FRIENDS OF
FERRIS. and ROBERT A. BOYCE as treasurer violated 2 U.S5.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1124 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that GENERAL
AVIATION MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (GAMAPAC), and JAHAN AHMAD as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil mor -y penaliy would be the amount
indicated on the repert; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason. McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF£1125 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that LINCOLN
CLUB OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY, and C APRIL BOLING as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and make a preliminary deterrnination that the civil money penalty would be the
amount indicated on the report: (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald. Smith. Thomas, Toner. and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF=11206 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that MCDERMOTT,
WILL & EMERY PAC (MW&E PAC). and STANTON D ANDERSON as treasurer
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report: (2) send the appropriate Ietter.
Commissioners Mason. McDonald, Smith, Thomas. Toner. and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1127 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that OWNER-
OPERATOR INDEPENDENT DRIVERS ASSN INC POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (AKA OOIDA-PAC), and PAUL D CULLEN SR as treasurer violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would
be the amount indicated on the report: (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason. McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affimatively for the
decision.

AF#1128 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to belic "= that REGENCE
BLUEPAC. and R PAUL WARBURTON as treasurer violated 2 L. ..C. 434(a) and make
a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated
on the report; {2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.



Federal Election Comgaission Page 7
Certification for Ad trative Fines .
June 10, 2004

AF=1131 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that
CONGRESSIONAL BLACK CAUCUS POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE(CBC-
PAC), and Arthur R. Collins as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 433(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason. McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

7 g, 200 % U ZQM

Date Mary W.ove
Secretary of the Commission
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WESTERN UNICN COMMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRMATION OF CHGH TL:R PAUL WARBURTON

REGENCE BLUEPAL

2890 E COTTOANWOOD PKWY DEPT 4

SALT LAKE CIYY UT B84121-7035

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
DAYNA BRCHWN
(i 999 £ 5T Nk ¥ 709
WASHINGTCN DC 20463

JUNE 15 2004

R PAUL WARBURTON

REGENCE BLUEPAC

: 2890 E CCTTONWOOD PARKWAY LEPT 33
e SALT LAKE CITY Ut 84121

C00252684
AF#: 11238

DEAR R PAUL WARBURTON:

THE FEDZRAL ELECTICN CAMPAIGN ACT OF 1971y AS AMENDED (7THZ
ACY"™)s REQUIRES THAT YCUR COMMITTEE FILE AN APRIL QUARTERLY REPORT
OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMEATS IN A CALENCAR YEAR OURING WHICH THERE
IS A REGULARLY SCHEDULED ELECTIGCNe THIS REPIRT, CCVERING ThE PERIGD
THROUGH MARCH 31STe SHALL BE FILED NO LATER THAN APRIL 15TH. 2
UeSeCae #34{A)s YOU WERE PREVIOUSLY NOTIFIZO OF THE DUE DATE FOR
THIS REPGRT. RECORDS AT ThHE FELERAL ELECTION CUOMMISSION ("™FEC™)
INDICATE THAT THIS REPCRT WAS FILED ON C4/23/20G4» 8 CAYS LATE.

THE ACT WAS FURTHER AMENCED IN 1999 TO PERMIT THE FEC TC I[MPCSE
CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES FCR VICLATICNS OF THE REPCRTING REQUIREMENTS
OF 2 UeS5els #340A)e . UoSaeCe 437G(ANI4). ON 06/1C/72004y THE FEC
FOUND THAT THERE IS R:IASON TC BELIEVE (™RTB™) THAT REGENCE 3LUEPAC
AND YOQUy AS TREASURERs YIOLATED 2 UeSelse 43401A) BY FAILING TC FILE
TIMELY THIS REPORT ON CR BEFCRE APRIL L15THe BASED ON THE FEC®3
SCHEDULES OF CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES AT 11 CeFeRwe llle&43y THE AMOUNT
OF YOQUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT THE RTA STAGE IS5 $5140. IT
IS DUE 8Y 07/20/2004 AND IS BASED ON THESE FALTORS:

ELECTION SENSITIVITY OF REPORT: NOT ELECTION SENSITIVE
LEVEL OF ACTIVITY: $12240

NUMBER OF OAYS LATE: 8

NUMBER OF PREVIOUS CIVIL MUNEY PENALTIES ASS5cS5E0d: O

TOQ PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MCONEY PENALTY

TO PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PEMALTY» SEND THE ENCLCOSED
REMITTANCE ANO YOQUR PAYNEMNT TG THE FEC AT THE ACDRESS ON PAGE 3.
UPON RECEIPT OF YOUR PAYMEMTe THE FEC AILL SENO YOU A FINAL



WESTERN UNICN COMMERCIAL SERVICES

DETERMINATION LETTER.

TC CHALLENGE THE RTB FINDING AND/OR CALCWLATEG CIVIL MONEY PeNALTY

TO CHALLENGE THE RT3 FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY, YOU MUST SUBMIT A WRITTEN RESPONSEs INCLUDING THE aF# FOUNO
ON PAGE ONEs TG THE FEC®S CFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE RcVIcwy 9399 &
STREETy NWs WASHINGTCNs OC 20463« YOUR RESPONSE MUST dE ReCelvig
3Y 0772072004« YQUR WRITTEN RESPGNSE MUST INCLUCE THE REASCANIS) kHY
YOU ARE CHALLENGING THE RTE FINDING AND/CR CALCULATED CIVIL MINEY
PENALTYe THE FEC WEILL ONLY CGNSIDER CHALLENGES ThAT ARE BASED an A
FACTUAL ERROR, MISCALCULATION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONZY PCNALTY
B8Y THE FECy OR THE EXISTENCE OF EXTRAORDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT
PEZRSISTEL FOR MORE THAMN 48 HCURS THAT WEZRE BEYUNG YOUR CCOANTRIL AND
PREVENTEL YOU FROM FILING THE REPORT IN A TIMZLY FAANER. YOuR
RISPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE FACTUAL 3ASI3 SUPPIRTING THE REASINIS) AND
SUPPIRTING DOCUMENTATICONe THE FEC STRONGLY ENCOURAGES THAY UJlUMENTS
BE SUBMITTED IN THE FORM OF AFFICAVITS CR UcCLARATIONS. EXAMPLES OF
CIRCUMSTANCES THAT WILL NOT B8E CONSICEREL EXTRACROINARY INCLULUZ, 20T
ARE NGT LIMITED TOs NEGLIGENCEs PRIGLEMS wITAd VEADORS GR
CONTRACTCRSy STAFF ILLNESSe CCHMPUTER FAILURES AND SIMILAR
CIRCUMSTANCESe 1l CeFoRe 111.35€30C12CEIIY AND (4).

YOUR FAILURE TG RAISE AN ARGUMENT 1IN A TIMELY FASHION DURING The
ACMINISTRATIVE PROCESS SHALL BE CESMED A WAIVER LF YULUR RIGHT TG
PRESENT SUCH ARGUMENT IN A PETITION TC ThE OISTRICT COURT UNSER 2
Je3ale 437G« 11 CeFeRe 11138

IF YCu INTEND TO BE REPRZSENTES 8Y CCUNSELe PLZASE AOVISc Tk
CEFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW. YOU 5ACLLG PRUVIJE, IN WRITINGs
THZ NAMCes ADDRESS AND TZLEPHCNE NUMSER GF YOUR CIUNSEL AND ALTHORIIE
COUNSZL TQ RECEIVE NOTIFICATIONS AND COMMUNICATICANS RELATING TO THIS
CHALLENGE AND IH4POSKITIGN OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

IF YOQU DC NGT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL KCAZY PEMALTY dR SUGHIT A
CAALLENGE

[F YCU D0 NOY PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PEINALTY CR SU3AIT A
WRITTEN RESPONSEy THE FEC wILL ASSUME THAT Tdc PRECEJING FALTUAL
ALLEGATICNS ARE TRUE ANDC MAKE A FinAL DETERMINATICN THAT RtieaCE
SLUEPAC AND YOUs AS TREASLRERy VIOLATED 2 Ue5+0s 4360A) Ahu A33ES5 A
CIVIL ADNEY PENALTYS

UNPAID CIVIL HMONEY PENALTIES ASSESSEL THHOUGH TAE AJ INISTRATIVC
FINE REGULATIONS wWwILL SE SULBJECT T3 THE [:237T COLLECTION ACT oF
L982("DCA™)IAS AMENDEC 8Y ThE CEBYT COLLZCTICN IMPROVEMEAT ACT Gr
1996y 31 UeSeCa 3701 EY SEQe THE FEC MAY TAKZ ANY AND ALL
APPROPRIATE ACTION AUTHCRIZEL ANG REQUIERED 3Y THE 0CAs A5 AMconhucdy
INCLUOING TRANSFER TC THE LeSe DEPARTMENT UF THE TREASURY FoR
COLLECTICONe 11 CeFeRa 1lle45.

THIS MATTER wAS GENERATEL BASED CN INFGRAATICN ASCERTAINED BY
THE FEC Ih THE NORMAL COURSE LF CARRYING DUT TS SUPERVISCRY
RESPONSIBILITIESe 2 UeSeCe 437GLA)L2)e IT AlLL RCMAIN CONFIDENTIAL
IN ACCORLCANCE WITH 2 Ua3eCe 437GLANL4I(3) AND 437GLAILL2DLA) UNTIL
IT IS PLACED ON THE PUBLIC RECOKEL IN ACCCRUANCE WITH 11 CeFeRe
111642y UNLESS YOQU MOTIFY THE FEC IN WRITING THAT YDU WISH Tnc
MaTTEcR TC 3£ MAVUE PUBLICS

ADOITIGNAL INFQRMATICN ON THE FEC®*S ADMINISTRATIVE FIANE PRUGAAM,
INCLUGING THE FINAL REGULATICASy IS5 LOCAYEC AT THE FEC*S wmESSITE AT
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WESTERN UNICN COMMERCIAL SERVICES
WHWeFECeGLVe IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS REGARDING THE PAYMENT OF THE
CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY, PLEASE CCUNTACT GCAYNA (. BROWN IN THE
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISICON AT QUR TOLL FREE NUMBER (800)424-S530
(PRESS 1y THEN PRESS 2) OR (202)694-1130, IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS
REGARDING THE SUBMISSICN OF A CHALLENGEs PLEASE CCNTACTY THE GFFICE
OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW AT CUR TOLL FREE NUMBER (800)424-9530
{PRESS O» THEN E£XTe 16603 CR (20218694-1660.

SINCERELY,

BRADLEY Ae SKMITH
CHAIRMAN

* * * * * * * ® * * * % ® %
ADMINISTRATIVE FEINE REMITVYANCE & PAYMENT INSTRUCTIUNS

IN ACCCROANCE WITH THE SCHECULE CF PENALTIES AT 11 CefeRe
111443, THE AMCUNY OF YOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RT3 I3
3140 FOR THE 2004 APRIL QUARTERLY REPURT.

PLEASE MAIL THIS REMITTANCE wWlTd A CHECK 3R MONEY JROER MAOE
PAYABLZ TO THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSICN TU THE FOLLJIWING ADJRESS:

FECERAL ELECTICN COMMISSION
Pe.l0e 3CX 952182
STe LOUISy MO &3195-2182

IfF YCU CHOGSE YO SEND YOUR RZMITTANCE AnD PAYMENT oY COURIER OR
OVERNIGHT DELIVERY,y PLEASE USE THIS AODRESS:
UeSe BANK - GOVERNMENY LOCKBCX
FEC #952182
1335 CCAVEMRTION PLAZA
STe LOUISy MG 63101

THE REMITTANCE AND YGUR PAYMENT aARc Lug 3Y (7/72C/2004s UPUN
RECEIPT €F YOUR REMITTANCE AND PAYMENTs ThE FEC wILL SEND YLu A
FINAL DETERMINATICON LETTER.

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN ThE PORTION 8cllw wlTH YCUR PAYMENWT

A P A AP -y 4k D D A D TR S W M W R W G A e W e e e s g e e AP S RS aw e e e o e e e e e e

FOR: REGENCE BLUEPAC

FcC ID#:s (00252684

AF#: 1128

PAYMENT DUE DATE: (772072004

PAYMENT AMOUNT DBUE:z $140
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMAMISSION 5 335

WASHINGTON. D.C. 20403 o G -

August 3, 2004 SENS“-“; F.

MEMORANDUM

TO: THE COMMISSION g‘ﬁf
i
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON .
STAFF DIRECTOR

ROBERT J. COSTA ~,
DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR

FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON
ASSISTANT STAFFDIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION

SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION
RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2004 APRIL QUARTERLY
REPORT

Attached are two lists of political committees and their trcasurers against which
the Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed preposed civil money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to file or failure 1o umely file the 2004 April
Quarterly Report. The first list represents the commitiees that have paid the civil money
penalties and the second list represents the commitices that have not paid.  The
committees that have not paid have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the
Commission’s RTB finding to remit payment.

In accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.34and 11 C.F.R. 111.40, the Commission shall
send a fina! determination notice to those respond -uts that have eith - paid or not paid the
civil money penalty.

For your information, after the date of the RTB finding. Clay Cox for Congress
(AF #1110) and Stace Williams for US Congress (AF #1120} filed their reports
disclosing no activity, thus bringing their civil money penalties to zero. The Committee
to Elect Bill Kirby (AF #1108} also filed its repont afier the RTB finding, disclosing no
activity and thereby lowering the civil money penalty to zero. This commitiec paid the
civil money penalty assessed at RTB; we will therefore issue a refund of the total fine
amount.



The Sutton for Congress Commitee and its treasurer. Ruth Schiermeyer.
(AF£1119) filed the 2004 April Quarterly Report with @ S2.2u disbursemen: (loan
repayment) to the candidate, in order 1o close the committee’s bank account. The
committee was assessed a $312.00 administrative fine due 1o the fact that it had one pnor
administrative fine violation on file. Specifically. the commusttee paid the $25.00 fee
assessed in AF £1081 on 312004 for the late filing ot their 2003 October Quarterly
Report. We would recomumend that no further action be 1aken concernmyz the commiltes
due 1o the de minimis nature of the disbursement and the intent of the committee 1o close
operations,

RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the political commuttess and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434y and assess the cwvil money penalties so
indicated.

(2) Take no further action against Sution for Congress and treasurer. Ruth Schiermeser
(AF Z1119).

(3) Send the appropriate letters.
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSICN
Washington, DC 20463

SENSITYI =

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Thursday, August 05, 2004 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Tuesday, Auqust 10, 2004 4:00

COMMISSION ZR: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB

SUBJECT:  Administrative Fines Finaf Determination Recommendation For
the 2004 April Quarterly Report. Memorandum from the Assistant
Staff Director, Reports Analysis Division dated August 5, 2004.

{) | approve the recommendation(s)
() | object to the recommendation(s)
{) | approve the recommendations except those following

to which | object (please insert AF#)

{) | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain {please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

() I am not voting on this ta. ;. |

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Administrative Fines Final Determination
Recommendation for the 2004 Apnil
Quarterly Report.:

FRIENDS OF RON PACKARD, and
DONALD J POLESE as treasurer;
DANIEL WEBSTER FOR US SENATE,
and NANCY H WATKINS as treasurer;
BROCK HILL CAMPAIGN, and JO
SHADDEN BOLIN as treasurer;
COMMITTEE TO ELECT BILL KIRBY,
and Tokutomi, E. Ken as treasurer;
SKINNER FOR SENATE 2004, and
NANCY YOUNG as treasurer;
ALLEGIANCE TELECOM INC. PAC. and
Delany, Megan Ms as treasurer,
FRIENDS OF FERRIS, and ROBERT A.
BOYCE as treasurer;

GENERAL AVIATION
MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(GAMAPAQC), and JAHAN AHMAD as
treasurer;

LINCOLN CLUB QF SAN DIEGO
COUNTY, and C APRIL BOLING as
treasurer;

MCDERMOTT WILL & EMERY LLP
PAC, and Anderson; Stanton D. Esqg. as
freasurer; ‘
OWNER-OPERATOR INDEPENDENT
DRIVERS ASSN INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE (AKA OOIDA-
PAC), and PAUL D/CULLEN SR as
treasurer, .

REGENCE BLUEPAC, and R PAUL
WARBURTON as treasurer;

AF# 1103
AF# 1104
AF# 1106
AF# 1108
AFz 1111
AF=112]
AF= 1123

AF=1124

AFs 1125

AF# 1126

AF#1127

AF# 1128

b i e il i i i N i i i S N e S N N S N N N N S N SN



Federal Election Co gssion ‘ Page 2
Certification for A istrative Fines
August 10, 2004

CONGRESSIONAL BLACK CAUCUS ) AFE 1131
POLITICAL ACTION )
COMMITTEE(CBC-PAC), and Arthur R. )
Collins as treasurer; - )

AMENDED CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election Commission. do hereby
certify that on August 10, 2004 the Commission took the following actions on the
Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation for the 2004 Apnl Quarterly
Report, as recommendéd in the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated August

05, 2004, on the following committees:

AF#1103 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that FRIENDS
OF RON PACKARD, and DONALD J POLESE as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2} send the appropnate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively
for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1104 Decided by 2 vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that DANIEL
WEBSTER FOR US SENATE, and NANCY H WATKINS as treasurer , violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners; Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1106 Decided by a vz = of 5-0 to* (1) make a final determination that BROCK
HILL CAMPAIGN, and JO SEADDEN EJLIN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively
for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1108 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
COMMITTEE TO ELECT BILL KIRBY, and Tokutomi, E. Ken as treasurer , violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civii money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.



Federal Election C ission o Page 3
Certification for A istrative Fines
August 10, 2004

AFEI111 Decided by a vote of 3-0 to: (1) make a final determination that SKINNER
FOR SENATE 2004, and NANCY YOUNG as treasurer . violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penaity so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith. Thomas. and Weintraub voted affirmatively
for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1121 Decided by a vote of 5-0 10: (1) make a f{inal determination that
ALLEGIANCE TELECOM INC. PAC, and Delany, Mecgan Ms as treasurer . violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropnate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas. and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1123 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that FRIENDS
OF FERRIS, and ROBERT A. BOYCE as treasurer . violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess
the civil money penalty so indicated; {2} send the appropniate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1124 Decided by a vote of 3-0 to: (1) make a tinal determination that
GENERAL AVIATION MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (GAMAPAC), and JAHAN AHMAD as treasurer . violaied 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald. Smith, Thomas. and Weintraub veted affirmanvely
for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#H1125 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
LINCOLN CLUB OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY. and C APRIL BOLING as treasurer ,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated: (1) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald. Smith. Thomas. and Weintraub
voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1126 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1} make a final determination that
MCDERMOTT WILL & EMERY LLP PAC, and Anderson, Stanton D. Esq. as
treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason. McDonald, Smith. Thomas. ar:
Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1127 Decided by a vote of 5-G to: (1} make 4 final determination that OWNER-
OPERATOR INDEPENDENT DRIVERS ASSN INC POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (AKA OCIDA-PAC), and PAUL D CULLEN SR as treasurer , viojated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated: (2) send the appropnate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.



Federal Election Cogagpission Page 4
Certification for A istrative Fines ‘
August 10, 2004

AF#1128 Decided by a vote of 5-0 10: (1) make a final determination that
REGENCE BLUEPAC, and R PAUL WARBURTON as treasurer . violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated: (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith. Thomas. and Weintraub voted affirmauvely
for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1131 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
CONGRESSIONAL BLACK CAUCUS POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE(CBC-
PAC), and Arthur R, Collins as treasurer , violated 2 U.S5.C. 434(a) and assess the civil
money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Toner did not vote.

Attest:
e 24 (0
ge Ly %  den
Date o Mary W/ Dove

Secretag}/ of the Commission
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WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRMATION OF MAILGRAM = TC:R PAUL WAR3URTON

REGENCE BLUEPAC

2890 & COTYONWOOD PKWY DEPT 8

SALT LAKE CITY UT B4121~-7035

FEDERAL ELECTIGN COMMISSION
DAYNA BRCWN

999 E ST NW # TO09
WASHINGTON DC 20463

AUSUST 12 2004

R PAUL WARBURTON

REGENCE BLUEPAC

2390 £ CCTYTONWOOD PARKWAY EEPT #8
SALT LAKE CITY UT 384121

C030252634
AF#: 1128

DEAR R PAUL WARGSURTONS

ON 0671072004y THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION (™FCC™)} FUUND
REASON TO BELIEVE (WRTB™) THAT REGEWCE BLUEPAC AND YOUs AS
TREASURERy VIOLATED 2 UeSeCe 4341A) FOR FILING LATE OR FAILING TO
FILE THE 2004 APRIL QUARTEARLY REPORT. BY MAILGRAM DATED 0671572004y
THE FSC SENT YJU NOTIFICATION OF THE RTS8 FINUING THAT INCLUDED A
CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT THE RTS8 STAGE OF $140 IN
ACCORJIANCE WITH THE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 CefeRe 11lla43.

ON O07/13/2004s THE FEC RECEZIVED PAYMENT OF YOUR CIVIL HONZY
PENALTY CALCULATED AT THE RTB STAGEe. - THEREFJREs THE FEL MADE A
FINAL DETERMINATIGON CHW 0871072004 THAT YOUs AS TREASURERs AND
REGENCE 3LUEPAC VIDLATED 2 UsSele 434(A)s ASSESSED A CIVIL AdNcY
PENALTY IN THSE AMOUNT OF $140 IN ACCORDANCE WIT'Y 11 CeFeRe 1lle43y
AND VOTED TO CLOSE THE FILE.

THE CONFIDENTIALITY PRCVISIONS AT 2 UeSele 437GLAX(12) NO LONGER
APPLY AND THIS MATTER IS NOs# PuUBLIC. THE FILE oILL B8EZ MADE A PART
OF THE PUBLIC RECORD PURSUANT 7O 11 CeFeRe 1ll.42{B)e ALTHCUGH THE
FILE MUSYT BE PLACED ON THE PUBLIC RECORD WITHIN THIRTY {30} DAYS
FROM THE DATE OF THE COMMISSIONNCTIFICATIONy THIS COULD OCCUR AT
ANYTINE FOLLOWING CERTIFICATION OF THE CCMMISSIUGNVOTE.

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTICNS REGARDING THIS MATTER,s PLEASE CONTACT
DAYNA Ce BROWN ON QUR TOLL FREE NUMBER {800)1424-9530 (AY THE PROMPT
PRESS 5) OR (202)694-1130.

SINCERELY
BRADLEY Ae. SHITH
CHAIRHMAN



MAILING ADDRESS . P ence

P 0. Box 30270 : ' m .

Salt Lake City, Utaks 841300270 . “p ! c?Cross BlueShield
[4) an

A g denl faeenrcew of B B Ding ghd Bove Btaeld Aot g

* ' 2890 East Cottonwood Parkway
Salt Lake City, Utah 84121-7035
Tel (801} 333-2000
www.ul.regence.com

July 1, 2004

Federal Election Commission
P.O. Box 952182
St. Louis, MO 63195-2182

Re:  Regence BluePAC
FEC 1D# C00252684
AF#: 1128

Enclosed is a check in the amount of $140.00, related to AF#1128, which found Regence
BluePAC was eight days latein filling its April 2004 Quarterly report (Report). While
we are not challenging the finding, we do what to clarify the Report was mailed on time
by certified mail dated April 15, 2004. On April 20, 2004, Eliza Green advised me that
the disk exploded when she tried to open the file. A replacement disk was sent by
certified mail on April 21, 2004, and subsequently accepted by the FEC.

Sincerely,
o

&_QU\QA,(LM, e
Paul Warburton

Enclosure
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THIS IS THE END OF ADMINISTRATIVE FINE CASE

)%

DATE FILMED 9/29/04 CAMERA NO.___|
CAMERAMAN _5&[
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